
CITY OF HANOVER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

NOVEMBER 17, 2020 – OFFICIAL MINUTES 
 
Call to Order: 
Mayor Kauffman called the regular meeting of Tuesday, November 17, 2020 to order at 7:00 p.m.  Present 
were Mayor Chris Kauffman, Councilors Ken Warpula, Jim Zajicek and MaryAnn Hallstein.  Also present 
were City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer Nick Preisler, City Administrator Brian Hagen, Public 
Works Supervisor Jason Doboszenski and Accountant Deputy Clerk.  Absent was Councilor Doug 
Hammerseng.  Guests present included Josh Pomerleau, Jason Versteeg, Sam with Crow River News, HC 
Sheriff Hutchinson, Doug Voerding from the WC Journal Press and Dan Heinecke from Hanover 
Youthball. 
 
Approval of Agenda: 
Kauffman added item 6a – Community Hall Rentals 
Hagen added item 4a – Hanover Youthball 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve the agenda as amended, seconded by Warpula.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve the consent agenda, seconded by Zajicek.   

a. Approve Minutes of November 2, 2020 City Council Meeting 
b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

 Claims  $    41,455.60 
 Payroll   $    10,030.87 
 P/R taxes & Exp. $      3,903.22 
 Other Claims  $      2,640.94 
 Total Claims     $    58,030.63 

 
HC Sheriff Hutchinson 
HC Sheriff Hutchinson stated they have been busy with COVID and political issues, they are here to help 
anyone in the County, are stretched thin but have a duty.  Hutchinson further stated Hanover is a very safe 
city and he is proud of the agency and his deputies.  Hutchinson stated the agency supports peaceful 
protests but cannot have looting, they are keeping Minneapolis as safe as they can.  Kauffman thanked 
Hutchinson for his service and stated Hanover has had several Back the Blue Events. 
 
Hanover Youthball - Dan Heinecke 
Heinecke stated Hanover Youthball has discussed being more self reliant regarding field preparation.  
Hanover Youthball is considering purchasing a Gator with a drag since they have saved enough money.  
Heinecke stated they may need a place to store the purchase short term possibly.  Heinecke further stated 
they’re aware of the Athletic Association dragging the city field and leaving ag lime in the grass, this new 
drag would help with that.  Heinecke further stated public works always has the fields prepped on time, 
but there have been instances where kids go on the field before the game.  They have used a Gator to drag 
between games on tournaments, if purchased could the Gator be stored in old Public Works.  Kauffman 
inquired if the Athletic Association has space in their shed, Heinecke stated he’s not sure.  Kauffman 
inquired if only trained operators would be allowed to operate the Gator, Heinecke stated Board Members 
and young adults age 16 and up who have gone through a certification process will be allowed to drive, 
provided insurance approves as well.   
 



Kauffman stated they appreciate the help but Jason is picky.  Heinecke stated the drag is similar to the one 
at Cardinal Circle Park.  Doboszenski stated his concern is when it rains and water holes are created, ag 
lime is pulled with it.  There has been 2 serious issues and it was tough to get the field back into shape.  
Doboszenski stated there needs to be better communication about schedules, it is tough to interpret if a 
game or practice is on the schedule.  Doboszenski asked how many tournaments are held each year.  
Heinecke stated they host 1, there is 1 machine pitch and more league games on weekends for the older 
leagues.  Roughly 7-8 per year.  Doboszenski inquired if the Athletic Association allows Youthball to 
drag their fields and what they say, Heinecke stated there hasn’t been any issues.  Doboszenski stated 
public works uses the Kubota and a drag with a conditioner.  Kauffman stated discussion will continue 
more during the next couple of meetings.  Hallstein asked Doboszenski to get together with Heinecke and 
discuss expectations.  Heinecke inquired about storage, Doboszenski stated he needs to assess room, with 
a second playground being delivered today, the area is getting tight.  
 
Res No 11-17-20-104 – Approving Planned Unit Development for River’s Edge of Hanover 
Nash stated copies of the reports and memos are included in the packet, Planning Commission is 
recommending approval of both the PUD and preliminary plat and would like to see a trail connection 
from the SW corner of the development to the River Road trail.  Nash further stated a trail would be city 
owned and placed in an outlot, where a sidewalk would be maintained by the HOA.  Hallstein stated her 
concern is privacy for the two homes next to the sidewalk, would it be better placed between lots 21 and 
22 in Block 5 as there is not much space where it is.  Nash stated the property to the south isn’t part of the 
development and approval from the property owner would be required.  Zajicek inquired is a trail is 
installed and property lines are moved, will the 7.5’ setback be met.  Nash stated if it’s a trail then it would 
be located in an outlot and setbacks would be met, if a sidewalk then slight adjustments would be made.  
Versteeg stated he has an updated drawing with a 30’ easement, a 6-8’ wide sidewalk not in a dedicated 
lot.  Hallstein stated she would like to see something more refined, Versteeg stated he can show the site 
plan which has that detail.  Kauffman inquired if there is a connection at the road to River Road, Nash 
stated yes, the Planning Commission was concerned that people will cut through and find a more 
convenient way.  Hallstein inquired the distance from the sidewalk to the side of the house, Versteeg stated 
10-12’.  Hallstein stated a new park isn’t needed, but a sidewalk will be convenient for those walking to 
downtown.  Versteeg stated the sidewalk along Riverview Circle were required.  Hallstein inquired about 
removing the sidewalk along lots 19-21 in the cul-de-sac, Nash stated city ordinance required a sidewalk 
on 1 side of the street.  Hagen suggested moving the sidewalk from the south side of the street to the north 
side for more snow storage when plowing.  Hallstein stated to lots 8-13, Versteeg stated they could make 
that work.   
 
Hallstein inquired about the connection to Pheasant Run Park and a Ped Crossing at River Road.  
Kauffman stated there is currently a crosswalk.  Versteeg stated there is an outlot connection to the park, 
it was moved further south due to the grade, possibly may need to cut into the grade of the park.  Nash 
stated in condition #16 these items are covered and will be reviewed in later phases, it is not a part of the 
first phase but will be addressed in a couple years when that point is constructed.  Zajicek stated outlot c 
is not the same as the sidewalk between lots 13 and 14 in Block 5, and will lots 19 and 21 in the cul-de-
sac meet setbacks.  Kauffman stated those are the building pads.  Versteeg stated yes, all sites will fit the 
setbacks.  Zajicek suggested making the sidewalk in the cul-de-sac an outlot.  Versteeg stated lot 13 is 
extra wide, a couple of the lots could be shifted to 2 car garages to create an outlot.  Hallstein inquired if 
the outlots are similar to those in Crow River Heights.  Hagen stated yes, west of the park.  Zajicek 
suggested creating an outlot for a trail and cutting 1 house lot.  Kauffman stated he is advocating to not 
have public works maintain the area.  Pomerleau stated the HOA plans to maintain the sidewalk and 
remove the snow.  Kauffman inquired if the HOA will maintain all sidewalks within the development, 
Pomerleau stated yes.  Hallstein stated she is okay with a trail or a sidewalk, but doesn’t feel the need to 



add work for public works.  Zajicek stated he is thinking of how the sidewalk will look.  Discussion 
continued regarding a trail versus a sidewalk.  Nash suggested to move the sidewalk to between lots 14 
and 15, with the angle of the lots, the sidewalk will be further away from the houses.   
 
Hallstein inquired about a walking connection to Settlers park.  Versteeg stated they plan to keep the 
current crosswalk and add a pedestrian ramp.  Preisler stated River Road is the second busiest street, 
currently he is not aware of any issues, but with additional homes and foot traffic an upgrade may be 
needed.  Preisler recommended installation of an RRFB (Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon) which is 
operated via a push button, has an amber beacon below the side which flashes when pushed and draws 
additional attention to the crosswalk.  Kauffman stated he likes the idea.  Hallstein inquired if the city of 
developer would pay for it.  Preisler stated that is for council to decide, it’s a simple installation and is 
solar powered.  Hallstein asked if the developer would be open to funding the RRFB as part of the 
agreement, Versteeg stated it’s not a large expense and would work well.  Pomerleau stated they would 
bid it out, Preisler stated cost is roughly $10,000 - $15,000 for a 2 sided set-up.  Kauffman stated he has 
seen it in other cities and likes it.  Warpula stated it’s a great idea.  Zajicek stated it will work.  Nash stated 
she would prepare as a condition.   
 
Hallstein inquired about the grading timeline, will the pond be done in phases.  Preisler stated he has had 
discussions with Pomerleau and is okay with the pond being completed right away or later.  Versteeg 
stated they are two phases to the grading of the development, starting with the West and working East.  
Hallstein inquired about the timeline for cutting the berm, Versteeg stated the drainage needs to be 
addressed and they plan to save as many trees as they can.  Hallstein stated the trees allow for wildlife to 
be there.  Versteeg stated they are mostly volunteer trees, they won’t take them just to take them, they 
prefer to save what they can.  Kauffman if screening will be provided in the back.  Hallstein stated 
screening is a benefit on the lots to the south.  Kauffman stated it can be addressed in the HOA documents, 
allow the owners to plant the screening but specify types to be used in the documents.  Discussion 
continued regarding screening on the south lots and trees. 
 
Hallstein inquired about ADA accessibility in the homes, and recommended wide door frames, hallways 
and ramps in the Villa homes.  Pomerleau stated those questions are asked a lot, most slab on grade homes 
have wider hallways, 10-20% of the homeowners will want handicap accessible features for the future, he 
is aware and willing to address any concerns or requests.  Discussion continued regarding zero entry, 
wider door frames, selling points, designing and advertising. 
 
Hallstein inquired about fiber internet being brought into the development as a utility, the last year has 
changed a lot for people with working from home and kids distance learning.  Versteeg stated now is the 
time to think about it, easier to do when constructing.  Preisler stated with fiber you will see more of the 
green pedestal boxes throughout the development.  Kauffman inquired about the mechanics of how the 
fiber would be serviced.  Hallstein it runs from Buffalo to Hanover Elementary and then to City Hall.  
Kauffman asked who would provide the service.  Preisler stated he doesn’t know who owns the line.  
Hagen stated the school installed the fiber and the city piggy backed to the Fire Department and City hall 
for back-up.  Kauffman asked staff to check into fiber and educate council on the issue.   
 
MOTION by Kauffman to approve Res No 11-17-20-104, seconded by Warpula.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
Res No 11-17-20-105 – Approving Preliminary Plat for River’s Edge of Hanover 
New Condition #4 – A crosswalk shall be installed at the sole expense of the developer with phase 1 at 
the intersection of 5th Street and River Road. 



New Condition #5 – Tree removal and landscape plans shall be refined with the Final Plat application 
submittal for each phase of the final plat to provide or preserve vegetation on the south and east property 
lines. 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve Res No 11-17-20-105 per the two added conditions listed, seconded 
by Zajicek.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Community Hall Rentals 
Hagen provided an update of the upcoming changes per the Governor.  Kauffman asked if previously 
scheduled events have cancelled, Hagen stated yes, renters are calling daily wondering if we are staying 
open.  Hallstein stated the new guidelines make it difficult.  Hagen stated he struggled to determine 
which category the hall falls in, we don’t have event specific COVID preparedness plan from renters.  
Hallstein inquired if the hall stays open, does the city create the plan, Hagen stated the renter or event 
planner would provide it.  Kauffman suggested to reach out and ask their plans.  Warpula inquired about 
allowing new rentals, Kauffman stated no new rentals at this time.  Hagen stated staff and council will 
reassess in January.   
 
Reports 
Hagen stated remaining meetings for the year will be done via Zoom.  Inquired about the city getting its 
own zoom account – Kauffman stated a good idea. 
 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Warpula to adjourn at 9:41 pm, seconded by Zajicek.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
       APPROVED BY: 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
      
___________________________________ 
Brian Hagen, City Administrator 


